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18 months later—
Project Democracy’s
assault on Panama

EIR first released this report in July 1986, to shake official Washington
back to its senses, before the United States locked itself into 'a policy
course toward Panama that could only lead to a strategic disaster in the
Western Hemisphere.

EIR’s warnings were not heeded. In June 1987, the plot to overthrow
the government of Panama exploded, in exactly the way we had fore-
warmned, led by exactly the cast of characters EIR had named and doc-
umented, as “neither ‘honest’ nor democratic, but rather front men working
for the drug mafia: drug money-launderers, lawyers for cocaine and mar-
ijuana traffickers, terrorists, and gun-runners.”

The new faces who jumped on the opposition bandwagon in 1987
have proven to be of the same character. Soviet-linked narco-terrorists
are leading the campaign to overthrow the government and military of
Panama—plain and simple.

The record on these characters is not hidden, nor unknown. Yet EIR
remains the only major publication within the United States which has
dared to publish the truth.

U.S. newspapers report Arnulfo Arias plans to return as president of
Panama—but never mention that Arias is the same committed Nazi who
sought to ally Panama with Hitler’s regime during World War II. They
report that retired Col. Roberto Dfaz Herrera’s attacks set off the anti-
government uprising—but not Diaz Herrera’s fervent praise for his “ex-
traordinary friend” Fidel Castro, nor his claims that his war against
General Noriega is a “mystic psychic war” launched on orders of his
occult guru, whom he calls a “new man-God.”

Not once has the U.S. media reported that the opposition’s leader in
Washington, Gabriel Galindo Lewis, is a long-term “business associate”
of Colombia’s Alfonso Lépez Michelsen, the great friend of Fidel Castro
who served as the dope cartel’s intermediary in its plan to “go legit.”
Never has the American public been told that the Miami bank owned
by the opposition’s leading editor, Roberto Eisenmann, had become an
operational headquarters for dope mafia money-laundering.
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Washington officialdom has now united behind the demand that Gen.
Manuel Noriega, commander of Panama’s Defense Forces, be stripped
of all position and power within the country. Panama’s government, too,
must resign, Washington's powers insist, and the nation’s institutions
must be restructured, so that never again can nationalists there mobilize
enough power to challenge the rule of the international financial cartel.

Those few in Washington who once recognized this policy as folly
have fallen silent, deluding themselves that if General Noriega will only
resign quickly, the crisis with Panama can be patched up, and little harm
will result to hemispheric relations. The U.S. news media’s blackout of
any news which throws doubt on this assessment has worsened Wash-
ington’s miscalculations on the Panama crisis.

EIR decided it is time to review the strategic realities of the Panama
crisis again.

By themselves, the insurgents have captured little support inside Pan-
ama. General Noriega has received the emphatic backing of the Defense
Forces, enjoys widespread popularity with Panama’s civilian population
(if not its bankers), and has shown no intention of resigning.

Yet because the insurgency has received the full backing of the United
States, serious unrest has now become possible in Panama—a nation
which not six months ago was a haven of stability in a region of warfare.

Unrest is being fomented, at the same time that economic warfare by
the U.S. against the country threatens to bring about a dramatic and
sudden increase in unemployment, hunger, and poverty, within the next
six months. In the highly charged environment created by the U.S.
political campaign, the conditions are rapidly being set for an explosion
in Panama, like those now devouring El Salvador and Nicaragua.

How long do Washington officials think it will be, before Soviet-
directed terrorists begin to organize guerrilla war inside Panama? Do they
believe Moscow, Managua, and Havana are blind, and cannot see that
the Unirted States government itself has set out to tear down Panama’s
government and military? That the moment of opportunity for guerrilla
warfare is now, while Panama’s military is under attack—from its allies?

No doubt, some in Washington argue with braggadocio that U.S.
troops can assume the tasks of Panama’s military, and do a better job.
Can they not see that no number of U.S. troops, redeployed from no-
matter-how-many strategic posts around the globe, can defend the Pan-
ama Canal, once a significant terrorist insurgency develops inside Panama
itself?

If Washington is blind to that reality, Moscow, most assuredly is not.

The opposition movement does not hide the fact that what it seeks is
to eliminate the Panamanian military outright. “Panama does not need
an Army,” a column in the opposition’s daily, La Prensa, proclaimed on
July 19, 1987. It was a true anarchists’ war cry: “To have a valid and
true democracy, we must dismantle the misnamed Defense Forces, Civil
Police, Coast Guard, and border police. . . . Until we do this, we will
not have democracy in Panama. . . . Panamanian people: We will be
free and have a democracy, only on the day in which we end with the
parasitical army,” La Prensa wrote.

In a speech to the troops and citizens in Panama on Aug. 12, 1987,
General Noriega warned that the campaign is nothing less than an attempt
“by a foreign power” to prevent Panama from being a “free and inde-
pendent nation.” Specifically, it is a replay of how Teddy Roosevelt
dismantled Panama’s military immediately after its separation from Col-
ombia, Noriega stated. “We remember that one year after the separation
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in 1904, Gen. Estéban Huertas was sent to Europe, on the excuse of
carrying out ome studies of vital importance for the National Army. It
was a strategy of the United States which did not want an organized
army in Panama,” Noriega reminded his audience.

While G ay, “the government of thatd
orders, and . . The National Army was t
into a police force. . . . We then had a ‘whistle and nightstick’ police

force, without presence, unattended, and ignorant—at the orders of the
domestic oligarchy and a foreign army.”

JIn 1915, the local oligarchic government followed U.S. orders again,
and forced the police to turn over all heavy weaponry, leaving them only
their revolvers. The consequence of this action was U.S. occupation of
the country, the General pointed out. In 1919, U.S. troops occupied
Panama’s northern province of Chiriqui, and stayed for two years.

A new Malvinas?

Since Teddy Roosevelt’s assertion in 1903 of the right of U.S. dominion
over Panama in perpetuity, Panama has symbolized the fight for sover-
eignty in the Hemisphere. As long as the United States was seen as
moving to rectify this assertion of limited sovereignty, other nations in
the region have remained quiet, letting the Canal remain an issue between
the United States and Panama. That apparent quiet should not be mis-
interpreted.

Washington’s showdown with Panama is already taking its toll on
United States’ relations with its American neighbots. Throughout the
region, the U.S. campaign is increasingly understood as a plot to eliminate
Panama’s military entirely, in the first step to reneging on the U.S. treaty
commitment to return full sovereignty to Panama on Dec. 31, 1999.

In addition, the anti-Panama campaign is recognized as an attack on
the militaries of all Ibero-America, and thus an attack on one of the
fundamental pillars of sovereignty of each nation.

Honored in 1987 by the militaries of Mexico and Guatemala, General
Noriega has gained respect throughout Ibero-America as a leading pro-
ponent of the need for the military to play a much more active role in
determining all national policy, if the advance of narco-terrorism is to
be defeated, and national peace restored in the area.

General Noriega’s insistence that “there can be no government alone,
absent and divorced from the men who bear arms,” has placed him at
loggerheads with Project Democracy. While Project Democracy seeks to
turn civilians against military, in a crude repetition of the imperial prin- *
ciple of divide and conquer, the Panamanian military champions the
policy of “civic action,” the principle of “the identification of the uni-
formed man with the needy population.” .-

“This is our Malvinas,” Noriega told an Argentine audience during a
mid-August interview on Radio de la Plata. He likened the U.S. pro-
paganda campaign against him to slander campaigns run against such
other Ibero-American nationalist military men, such as Argentina’s Gen.
Juan Domingo Perén and Peru’s Gen. Juan Velasco Alvarado.

The U.S. campaign “portrays the policeman with the same rifle and
the same big stick Theodore Roosevelt used at the time of the ‘big-stick’
policy, which the United States has imposed on us since 1904. . . . Here
is where we have the whole problem. The whole problem lies there,”
Noriega stressed.

U.S. policy toward Panama is blindly leading to a new hemispheric
crisis, equal to or greater than that created by U.S. support for Great
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Britain against Argentina during the 1982 Malvinas War. U.S. relations
with its neighbors, and in particular, U.S./Ibero-American military co-
operation, have never fully recovered from the damage caused by that
1982 decision to ignore hemispheric treaty obligations.

Who will benefit from such a confrontation, at a time when Soviet
irregular forces advance across the continent?

The endgame can yet be stopped. To do so, EIR now reissues its White
Paper on the Panama crisis. In the new edition, we add the story of how:

® The narco-banking interests ordered the opening of the latest assault
against General Noriega;

® Cuba-centered gnostic drug-cultists triggered the crisis;

® OId and new faces in the forces of insurrection hook into the nar-
cotics trade; and

® Project Democracy is the mother of the opposition movement, whose
headquarters are in Washington.

As EIR has documented elsewhere, Panama is not the only target of
Project Democracy. Thus, in addition to its importance to the case of
Panama, this updated report can prove of use as well to those American
patriots battling the narco-terrorist assault in their own countries. The
same networks identified here, are running the operation to overthrow
President Alan Garcfa in Peru, return the monarchy to power in Brazil,
dismantle the military in Argentina, and drive Mexico into civil war.

For over a year and a half, Project Democracy’s “Operation Overthrow”
against Panama’s government and military floundered, finding few sup-
porters within Panama, and failing to win active support from more
rational strategists within the U.S. military establishment. That picture
changed in June 1987, when the war against Panama began in earnest.
This time, the secret government in the United States succeeded in
rallying “official” Washington behind their plot.

What had changed?

The answer was bluntly stated on Aug. 10, 1987, in a New York Times
news analysis entitled “Bank Uncertainty in Panama.” Author Larry
Rother wrote:

The political crisis follows closely what bankers here saw as a serious

breach of bank secrecy regulations. Earlier this year, as part of an

American campaign against the laundering of drug money, the Pan-

amanian Government froze a few suspect accounts here in a manner

that bankers and lawyers regarded as arbitrary. The action, which
took place in May, involved about $10 million in 54 accounts at

18 banks. “The papers were served without citing any statutes or

articles in complete disregard for the legal procedures that are sup-

posed to be followed,” one Panamanian banker said. “It was done
to appease the Americans and was typical of the way this guy works.”

L 2
Indeed. On May 6, 1987, U.S. officials had announced the results of
the first phase of “Operation Pisces,” an anti-drug operation which they
called “the largest and most successful undercover investigation in federal
drug law enforcement history.” 58 major U.S. and Colombian narcotics
runners were arrested in Miami, Los Angeles, and New York, and in-
dictments were issued against 57 more.

The indictments were the fruit of a three-year investigation by U.S.
Drug Enforcement Administration agents into drug money-laundering,
the aspect “of drug-running which bankers would prefer were left un-
mentioned, let alone investigated and prosecuted. ‘

In Operation Pisces, this line of investigation proved eminently suc-»
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cessful. Exemplary of the level of traffickers caught in its net was José
Lépez Chacén, arrested as he stepped off the plane in Miami to meet
undercover DEA agents posing as money launderers. The U.S. Drug
Enforcement Administration ranks Lépez Chacén as a trafficker com-
parable in importance to Hugo Obando Ochoa, a chief of the Medellin
Cartel. What worried the men at the top of the narcotics trade mgst
about Operation Pisces, however, was not that top traffickers had been
caught, but that the Panamanian government, in coordination with U.S.
anti-drug forces, seized traffickers’ bank accounts in the offshore inter-
national banking center in Panama. International coordination against
drug money-laundering opened a powerful flank against the supranational
dope business.

Panama’s government seized 54 accounts in 18 banks of various na-
tionalities operating in the offshore center including, according to press
accounts, banks from Colombia, Venezuela, Panama, and Luxembourg.
Those accounts were then opened for examination by U.S. drug agents.
Follow-up investigations by the Panama Defense Forces (PDF) led to the
identification of another 85 accounts whose deposits were suspected to
be the proceeds of drug sales. Those, too, were frozen.

It was the first implementation of Panama’s new banking Law 23, a
law designed specifically to curb drug money-laundering through the
offshore center, which had been drawn up in close cooperation with the
anti-drug unit of Panama’s Defense Forces. The law had been passed
earlier in the year, but it went into operation with Operation Pisces. As
the Bogot4, Colombia daily El Espectador noted: “With the decision to
freeze bank accounts in Panama, it has been shown that Panama’s new
laws against drug-trafficking are effective.”

U.S. anti-drug officials had already stated that they viewed the Pan-
amanian anti-laundering legislation as a milestone in the fight against
drugs. On March 16, 1987, DEA Administrator John C. Lawn sent a
letter to Panama’s ambassador to the United States, Dominador Kaiser
Bazén, conveying the DEA’s appreciation. Lawn wrote:

[ was pleased to read Law No. 23, which was recently enacted by
the Republic of Panama to more effectively combat the financial
laundering aspects of drug trafficking. It is a significant step towards
curbing the illegal flow of money through Panama. I hope this
initiative your government has taken will serve as-a model for other
countries throughout the Americas [emphasis added).

On May 27, 1987, Lawn sent a letter to General Noriega personally,
to express the DEA’s joy at the success of the operation.

Once again the United States DEA and the enforcement authorities
of the Republic of Panama have joined efforts to strike an effective
blow against the drug-traffickers who plague us all. As you know,
the recently concluded Operation Pisces was enormously successful:
many millions of dollars and many thousands of pounds of drugs
have been taken from the drug traffickers and international money
launderers.

Your personal commitment to Operation Pisces and the compe-
tent, professional, and tireless efforts of other officials in the Republic
of Panama were essential to the final positive outcome of this in-
vestigation. Drug traffickers around the world are now on notice
that the proceeds and profits of their illegal ventures are not welcome
in Panama.

Lawn specified that the importance of Operation Pisces extended be-
yond any individual accounts seized, as the Operation provided critical
insight into the mechanisms of banking transactions in general, which
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drug-traffickers use. While citing the work of several top Panamanian
officials who participated in Operation Pisces, Lawn was fervent in his
personal thanks to General Noriega for this advance. He wrote:
The operations on May 6 . . . led to the freezing of millions of
dollars in trafficker bank accounts in Panama and the seizure of
banking records which will provide enforcement authorities with
insight into the operations of drug traffickers and money launder-
ers. . . .
I look forward to our continued efforts together. DEA has long
welcomed our close association and we stand ready to proceed jointly
against international drug traffickers whenever the opportunity arises.

This was not the first time General Noriega’s PDF had struck the dope
banking apparatus. In December 1984, the Defense Forces of Panama
provided information to the DEA on the activities of Jorge Luis Ochoa
and Gilberto Rodriguez Orejuela which led to their subsequent arrest in
Spain on charges of masterminding the smuggling of 1,500 kilos of cocaine
into the United States from Colombia between the months of February
and July 1983 alone. The two were some of the “highest” drug kingpins
ever caught in the anti-cocaine fight.

Then, in an unprecedented act, the government shut down the First
Interamericas Bank, after the Defense Forces presented their evidence
that the two cocaine traffickers used the bank to launder their profits.
As the investigation into First Interamericas proceeded, the names of
several top leaders of the perennial opposition to Panama’s military sur-
faced in connection with First Interamericas or the Ochoa/Rodriguez
Orejuela mob, a point to which we shall return later.

At that time, U.S. authorities acknowledged the role of General No-
riega in assuring that victory, and warned that the cocaine mafia had
vowed revenge. In March, the U.S. embassy in Panama sent a telex to
the Secretary of State, the Drug Enforcement Administration, and U.S.
embassies in Madrid and Bogot4, advising them that the Defense Forces
were targeted for “retaliation,” and that U.S. authorities would be alert
to stop such actions. The telex stated:

The seizure of a bank in Panama for laundering drug proceeds was

the first ever by the GOP [Government of Panama)] and was the

result of a cooperative investigation between the DEA/PCO, NY-

DETF (FP5), the U.S. Attorney’s Office of the Eastern District of

N.Y., and the Panamanian Defense Force. . . .

To date, the PDF has received numerous telephone calls of re-
taliation. On March 2, 1985, the PDF developed information that
Jesus Balderrama Vasquez, Jorge Alonso, and Maiquel Nulfo would
arrive in Panama from Colombia on March 4, 1985. The PDF
informed DEA/PCO that the suspects’ motive for traveling to Pan-
ama may be in retaliation for the seizure. The PDF and DEA/PCO
will monitor the activity of the suspects while they are in Panama.

But in 1987, the story has been a different one. What had been a
worrisome precedent for dope bankers in 1985, had not only been codified
in law, but was being enforced. The liberal Eastern Establishment in the
United States, whose assets had created Panama’s offshore center, did
not intend to let Panama’s government interfere in their running of the
center noy. For a year their press had labeled Panama a den of thieves
and drug-runners because of the offshore center; now Panama’s Defense
Forces chief, General Noriega, was labeled a “dictator” for taking measures
to stop drug money-laundering through that center. L
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The offshore bankers’ local political apparatus went into action. op-
position papers, Extra and La Prensa, launched a press campalgn against
Panama’s participation in “Operation Pisces” as a move that “will dev-
astate the Panamanian banking center.” Extra protested, “The U.S.
Attorney has more power to investigate bank accounts in Panama than
he has to investigate bank accounts in his own country.” La Prensa accused
the Panamanian Defense Forces of being U.S. lackeys for their action.
“Matters dealing with drug-trafficking and money-laundering are handled
by Panama’s Defense Forces solely for propaganda purposes and to serve
U.8. interests,” the paper editorialized on May 12, 1987.

Representatives of the National Association of Banks in Panama called
a meeting with Panama’s banking authorities to protest, “This will end
the Panamanian banking system, because people will no longer believe
in banking secrecy.’

Banking Commission director Mario de Diego answered quietly, “Any—
one who has nothing to do with drug-trafficking has nothing to fear.”
In his press conference, Attorney General Carlos Villalaz (who had played
a leading role in Operation Pisces), reminded bankers that Panama’s bank
center “was not created to protect the financial system of drug-trafficking.”

In less than a month, “Operation Overthrow” was under way, led by
those same forces who protested that Operation Pisces merely “served
U.S. interests.” The Eastern Establishment wanted to deliver one message
loud and clear: Any nation which follows Panama’s successful imple-
mentation of Law 23, may receive the same treatment.

Within the United States’ elite, the line went out: Noriega. must go,
and hesitations from U.S. military men or the men on the frontlines of
fighting drugs, cannot stand in the way. “Operation Overthrow” became
the “consensus” policy in Washington—not because military men had
changed their evaluation of its dangerous foolishness, nor because anti-
narcotics officials had suddenly found “evidence” of drug-involvement,
but because acquiescence was easier than bucking orders of an angered
Eastern Establishment.

U.S. military opposition to the “Get Noriega” campaign was reported
still alive in July by U.S. newspapers. On July 11, the New York Times
reported that “the American military people say that the most organized
group in Panama is the Defense Forces. Their position is that Noriega
is all they've got. They don’t want to go through a period of change that
could be painful, embarrassing, or threatening.”

Nonetheless, three days later, the spokesman for the U.S. Southern
Command announced that all U.S. military cooperation with Panama
had been suspended.

Drug Enforcement Administration officials have been equally opposed
to the campaign, fearing an end to the excellent relationship of coop-
eration which Panama and the United States have maintained in the
fight against drugs up until now—Tlargely because of the efforts of Gen.
Manuel Noriega.

To date, the State Department’s Bureau of International Narcotics
Matters has been the only agency of government to buck the line in
public since June 1987. In its Mid-year Evaluation, released in September,
the Bureau praised the “significant strides” made by the Panamanian
government “in the first half of 1987 against the major narcotics-related
activities which occur in Panama, especially money laundering and trans-
shipment of precursor chemicals and cocaine. Money laundering . . .
was dealt a severe blow by Operation Pisces. . . .” The PDF seized record
levels of cocaine which traffickers had attempted to ship through Panama,
the report noted.
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for an entire week to any reporter he could were

in full by the Panamanian media—revealing of m

his allegiances to anyone who cared to read. Each interview was more
incoherent than the last; in each he not only insisted on his petsonal
loyalty to Fidel Castro, but became angry over the media’s

report that he was acting as the disciple of an Indian gnostic g

Sai Baba.

Who Diaz Herrera actually is, or whether his charges were credible or
not, was immaterial to those directing Operation Overthrow. The U.S.
State Department and embassy in Panama demanded General Noriega
resign from the PDF, on the basis of Diaz Herrera’s charges. To make
the story credible to the American population, the U.S. media simply
censored Diaz Herrera’s interviews, eliminating any mention of his fervent
support for Fidel Castro, or of his claims that he was acting on behalf
of an occult power.

That censorship, with few exceptions, holds to this date. The Wall
Street Jowrnal reported the occult angle to the Diaz Herrera story on June
11, but other papers limited themselves to a passing remark that the
opposition’s new hero believed in “spirits,” if they mentioned it at all.

In its June 19, 1987 issue, EIR broke the Fidel Castro-gnostic story in
the United States, identifying that network as the same as that through
which the international drug trade is run. When the blackout continued,
EIR published a lengthier report in its July 3 issue, including excerpts of
the transcript of Diaz Herrera’s first interview in that issue.

On July 27, Diaz Herrera was brought forcibly before Panama’s attorney
general, and ordered to produce his “proof.” He then confessed that he
could “produce no proof whatsoever.” This news, not fitting the needs
of Operation Overthrow, was relegated to brief, mostly buried, notes in
the back pages of U.S. newspapets.

From the outset, Diaz Herrera insisted on the importance of his mem-
bership in the Sai Baba cult, in his decision to “confess” his own past
sins, and attack the PDF. Ibero-American intelligence agencies identify
the Sai Baba cult, active in Argentina, Panama, and Mexico in particular,
as an operation run by Israel’s Mossad, through a network of psychiatrists
who “participate in” the Sai Baba cult. Built around the idea that all
the religions must be unified, the cult’s ideology matches the belief-
structure of various gnostic cults proliferating in the Caribbean area.
There is no doubt Diaz Herrera was immersed in the cult. An image
of the Indian guru, Satya Sai Baba, hung over an altar Diaz Herrera had
set up in his home, and he passed out photos of his guru to reporters
who came to visit. Explaining that he had encountered the cult during
a visit to Argentina some time ago, Diaz Herrera called Sai Baba the
new “man-God . .. a divine incarnation equal to Jésus Christ.” He
explained to the Wall Street Journal's reporter that it was after studying
Sai Baba’s writings for seven months, that “I felt the desire to transform
Panama.” Baba is my “secret weapon” against General Noriega, he raved;
“I have no doubt that he, not I, is in command of everything.”
Although he contradicted himself frequently in the interveiws given
over the course of the week, he never swerved from his claim that he

'was coordinating his activities with a network of occultists holding high

offices in the Caribbean, a network which is prepared to unleash “a
psychic, mystic, and religious war” throughout the region. He named
Cuba’s Fidel Castro, and Socialist International Vice President José Fran-
cisco Pefia Gémez of the Dominican Republic, as leaders of this gnostic
network.
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Pefia Gémez can corroborate my charges on the Torrijos assassination,
he stated, because he, too, knows of Baba and the occult. “He told me
that he has spoken twice with the spirit of Torrijos, that the spirit of
Torrijos is restless because he was assassinated,” Diaz Herrera swore.

Diaz Herrera’s praise for Fidel was effusive. “Fidel Castro is a mystic,”
he asserted. “I have spoken two times with Comandante Castro, and we
spoke in these terms. . . . He is a spiritual man, despite his being a
Marxist-Leninist, and he is a profoundly human man, to the core. He
is a great friend not only of Panama, but an extraordinary friend to me.”

Difaz Herrera’s longstanding connections to Cuba are a matter of record.
Through family members, he controlled’ Panama’s embassy in Cuba for
several years. (This channel included his brother, Efebo Difaz Herrera,
who was ambassador to Cuba. Brother Efebo’s business connections in-
clude his role as alternate director of an insurance company founded in
Panama by Colombian fugitive financier Jaime Michelsen Uribe, cousin
of former president Alfonso Lépez Michelsen, famous for his 1984 in-
tercession on behalf of the drug mafia).

Diaz Herrera's leftist and Cuban ties have not been cut off, nor were
they hidden in this latest crisis. Even as U.S. e officials declared
that the looney colonel’s charges had called th macy of the gov-
ernment and military into question, heavily armed members of the Vic-
toriano Lorenzo Brigade, which had fought on the side of the Sandinistas
in 1978-79 under the direction of Hugo Spadafora, were protecting Diaz
Herrera’s house. Diaz Herrera emphasized to reporters that he had been
a good buddy of Hugo Spadafora from 1975-78, and that only lack of
contact, not a difference in opinion, led the friends to drift apart. Fur-
thermore, Diaz Herrera’s lawyer is Spadafora’s old buddy, Alvin Weeden,
whose role as a courier for Steven Samos and the dope mob is documented
in the pages of this report.

Joining Spadafora’s crew at the house were several Catholic priests
active in the Marxist-allied Theology of Liberation movement, with
whom Difaz Herrera was working closely.

On July 2, an open letter from Diaz Herrera, “To the Honest Left-
wingers in Panama” was published by opposition daily, Extra. “I urge the
Torrijist leftwing and the Christian and honest left to wage a struggle
without selfishness, sectarianism, or foolish and divisionist labels,” he
wrote. “Let us form an independent, just, egalitarian, and peaceful home-
land.”

Diaz ’s participation in the Sai Baba cult is important to an
inves into his connections to the dope trade. EIR has extensively
documented how Soviet participation in international narcotics traffic,
including its Bulgarian, Colombian, and Cuban branches, are run through
the Gnostic International and its cults. Colombia’s M-19 terrorists, cre-
ated by the Gnostic thurch, are a textbook example of the importance
of the gnostics in narcoterrorist operations more broadly. (See EIR’s
book, Dope, Inc. and Special Report, “Narco-terrorism in Ibero-America.”)

Diaz Herrera was protected for years within Panama’s Defense Forces
by U.S. banking interests and their assets within the U.S. intelligence
community, despite his well-known links to the drug trade and to Cuba.
Diaz Herrera, like his factional ally Gen. Rubén Dario Paredes, was
considered useful to these U.S. interests, as an “inside man” to ensure
no nationalist grouping in Panama consolidated enough power to go after
the foreign economic interests, including the lucrative drug trade, which
have enjoyed virtual free rein over the country’s economy since its foun
ing.
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In return, Diaz Herrera attempted to serve his protectors well. After
the death of General Torrijos, Diaz Herrera teamed up with General
Paredes (for his part the leading protector of the M-19 operations inside
Panama), to purge the ruling Democratic Revolutionary Party (PRD) of
several nationalist leaders, as part of a plan to gain General Paredes the~
presidency, and then bring the bankers’ opposition to power.

In September 1985, Diaz Herrera attempted a coup within the PDF
against General Noriega, on behalf of Panama’s then-president, banker
Nicolds Ardito Barletta, who feared General Noriega's attacks on the
International Monetary Fund, and speculative economic interests. Since
1970 when he oversaw the creation of the offshore banking center in
Panama, Barletta had been assigned the job of ensuring Panama never
interfered with the “bank secrecy,” even for criminal activities.

Barletta lost the 1985 fight, and quit the presidency, but Diaz Herrera-
has remained loyal to Barletta. After the PDF pressed for implementation
of the new banking law strengthening prosecution for drug trafficking in
1987, Diaz Herrera adamantly opposed its implementation, and attempted
to stop Panama's cooperation with the U.S. in Operation Pisces, U.S.
anti-drug officials later reported. In the midst of his campaign against
General Noriega this summer, Diaz Herrera issued a leaflet (published
proudly by opposition daily El Siglo), attacking Panama’s Attorney Gen-
eral Carlos Villalaz as a puppet of the PDF, because Villalaz, he said,
had cooperated with the military to draw up “the new regulatory laws
which the government was forced by the U.S. to repress drugs and above
all avoid money laundering.” )

Thus it is no surprise that Castro’s friend Diaz Herrera continues to
praise Barletta effusively, calling him “my personal friend. . . . I admire
him greatly,” nor that Barletta was one of the first to back Diaz Herrera’s
charges against Noriega and the rest of the military as “opportune,” when
the June crisis broke.

Diaz Herrera did not just protect the profiteers of the drug trade, he
was actively involved in the business of trafficking. Specifically, Diaz
Herrera ran the “Panama connection” for the Reynaldo Rodriguez Lépez
mob in Peru.

The Rodriguez Lépez gang ran one of the largest cocaine pipelines in
South America, until that operation exploded, quite literally, on July
24, 1985, when a gigantic cocaine laboratory blew up in a mansion
located in one of Lima’s richest districts. While Rodriguez was not caught
until a year later, his network began to unravel, becoming famous as
“the Villa Coca case.”

Rodriguez Lépez ran coca and cocaine paste from Peru, through Central
America, to Mexico, and then the United States beginning in the 1970s.
By the 1980s, Rodriguez had struck the requisite deal with the Colombian
cocaine chiefs known as the Medellin Cartel, to be able to §tay in business.

Inside Peru, Rodriguez owed his success to his connections with the
Peruvian Investigative Police (PIP) and the Civil Guard, connections
which prospered until the Garcia administration came to power. In 1980,
Rodriguez was named an official “adviser” to the PIP High Command,
when Gen. José Jorge Zarate was inspector general of the PIP, and Gen.
Eduardo Ipinze Rebatta’s chief. Both generals were named as protectors
of the Rodriguez trafficking organization after the Villa Coca exploded,
and were forced to resign in ignominy. The head of the Civil Guard,
Lt. Gen. Humberto Catter Arredondo, was forced to resign in the same
scandal, when he, too, was linked to Rodriguez and Villa Coca.

As the investigations proceeded in Peru, the word leaked out that Col.
Diaz Herrera worked closely with Rodriguez, PIP General Zarate, and
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the Civil Guard’s Gen. Catter Arredondo, in the Villa Coca network.
Rodriguez’ Panama operations were centralized through his tourist agency,
Seturin, which had, in turn, built up a trafficking network within Air
Panama.

Diaz Herrera’s ties to this branch of the Peruvian mob are not surprising.
The Panamanian colonel had been a classmate of both Zarate and Catter,
during his graduate studies in Lima at the Civil Guard’s La Campina
Academy.

This is the man whom the U.S. State Department has backed as a
spokesman for their campaign to create what they call an “apolitical and
professional military institution,” by the resignation (and trial) of Gen.
Manuel Noriega! The other military men who hope to benefit from the
State Department’s “Get Noriega” campaign, are no more professional
nor apolitical than is the crazed trafficker, Diaz Herrera.

In July, Diaz Herrera’s ally, retired Gen. Rubén Dario Paredes, jumped
in to aid the flagging campaign against Noriega. Immediately after the
U.S. announced the cut-off of economic aid to Panama, Paredes issued
an open letter, addressed to “The Heart of the Armed Forces,” which
was immediately picked up by the U.S. media. In it, Paredes called
General Noriega the sole cause of division within Panama, and threatened
that if he did not resign, “civil war” might result. Opposition dailies gave
banner headlines to the letter: “Paredes to the Troops: Get Him Out.”

Shortly thereafter, Panamanian police uncovered documents in the
headquarters of the opposition’s Civic Crusade, which showed that the
State Department, through its embassy in Panama City, had offered
Paredes the post of defense minister in the government which the U.S.
hopes it can establish after President Delvalle and General Noriega are
overthrown.

Paredes’ role in protecting narcoterrorism was featured in EIR’s original
White Paper, teprinted here. In August 1986, the Panamanian govern-
ment published a report, Sixteen Years of Fighting Drug Traffic, which
confirmed EIR's story in full.

Sixteen Years reported that the Ochoa mob in Colombia, co-partners
of the Medellin Cartel, had given a “former National Guard Commander”
gifts of specially bred pacing horses, in return for a promise to allow
Panama to become a major cocaine-processing center. Shortly thereafter,
El Tiempo of Bogotéd named General Paredes as the “former National
Guard Commander” to whom the Sixteen Years referred.

The story is a major one, known to anti-drug authorities under the
file name of “Melo.” Lt. Col. Julian Melo Borbua, a protégé of Gen.
Paredes who had risen to executive secretary of the PDF General Com-
mand, was dishonorably discharged from the PDF in 1984, accused of
working with the Medellin Cartel.

In 1984, investigations by the PDF’s investigative police, DENI, un-
covered an operation by Colombia's drug chiefs to move major sections
of their operations into Panama, to escape the war on drugs in Colombia
launched by Justice Minister Rodrigo Lara Bonilla that year. The mob's
need to find a new center of operations became even more urgent, when
Colombia’s military responded to the mob’s assassination of Lara Bonilla
by escalating their war.

As Sixteen Years reports, the mafia’s plan “was designed to get clear
transit of cocaine through Panama, to use Panamanian banking facilities
for their transactions; and finally to install a big laboratory in Darien,
Panama’s less populated jungle province.”

“The Ochoa brothers, one of the most powerful drug mafias established
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in Medellin, had made contact with authorities who had political as-
pirations, and presented them with costly pace horses and other presents,”
the Panamanian government’s report states. “Melo sold his influence to
the Colombian mafia,” it adds, noting that “Melo had met the Ochoa
group in Colombia when they had pr a previ der of
the National Guard with pace horses a rich cattle
man, who is a member of the political opposition.”

The previous Commander was Rubén Paredes.

Working with Melo were several civilians, Gabriel and Olmedo Mén-
dez» Ricardo Tribaldos Giraldes, and Jaime Castillo among them. Tri-
baldos, one of those reponsible for importing from Germany into Panama
a huge quantity of ethyl ether, a critical element in the processing of
cocaine, had received $250,000 as his first payoffs from the Colombian
mafia for initiating the new drug operation in Panama. Later, Tribaldos
traveled with Melo to Cali, where the two negotiated with the Ochoa
brothers both the installation of a cocaine laboratory in Darien, and the
regular shipment of ether through Panama to Colombia. This time,
Tribaldos and Melo were paid $4 million for their promises.

When several ether shipments were captured (both by Panamanian
forces and by Colombian authorities working from PDF tips), and the
cocaine laboratory discovered and dismantled, and those working there
arrested, the mafia ordered its Panamanian traffickers to take action—
quickly. Tribaldos, Méndez, and Lt. Colonel Melo met, and decided
upon a multi-front attack on the government, the country’s economy,
and the military, in hopes of breaking resistance to the cocaine plot.
Included in their plans was the assassination of General Noriega, and
the triggering of capital flight out of the banking center.

The plot did not succeed. Melo was dishonorably discharged from the
PDF to face criminal charges, the same as any other citizen; Tribaldos
and Gabriel Méndez were charged with drug-trafficking, and jailed. (All
were later released by Panamanian courts.)

Their arrest hit the Panamanian opposition hard. Both Ricardo Tri-
baldos and his brother, César, himself the brother-in-law and business
partner of La Prensa’s Roberto Eisenmann, were then, and still are today,
active in the anti-government conspiracy.

The mob has not given up its plans to install its people at the head
of the PDF. On July 25, opposition daily Extra called for Lt. Col. Julian
Melo to be reintegrated into the Armed Forces.

The instruments deployed by Project Democracy to overthrow the gov-
ernment of Panama are not simply the narcotics mafia’s top contacts in
the military, but also in business and politics as well. When the uprising -
broke in June 1987, the news reports coming in, one after the other,
featured prominently the same men and women whosé narcotics and
terrorist connections had been exposed in great detail in EIR’s first edition
of its White Paper on the Panama Crisis!

The opposition went into action immediately following Colonel Diaz
Herrera’s press conference on June 6. By June 9, supporters of the old
Nazi president, Amulfo Arias, were rtioting in the streets, demanding
the government be overthrown, and Arias installed as president.

On June 10, leaders of 5 opposition political parties announced the
formation of a “Patriotic Junta of National Resistance,” and ordered their
members to demonstrate in the streets, until General Noriega resigned.

Thirty-five business and professional groups revealed that they, too,
had formed a group to coordinate actions against the government, named
the “Civic Crusade.” The Crusade’s leadership announced a nationwide
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strike, which they claimed would last until Diaz Herrera’s charges were
investigated, and everyone he named purged from government. Bankers
and leading businessmen closed the doors to their establishments. The
strike lasted until the government declared a state of emergency on June
11.

The failure of the opposition movement to gain support outside the
financial district of Panama City, soon led even the movement's friends
in the international press to dub the opposition “the BMW revolution.”
To the extent the bankers have been able to mobilize support from
Panamanians, they have received it from the middle class alone; neither
the poorer area a City and t e country
has shown any in particip e heir gov-
emment, or military.

But even the epithet “BMW revolution” is a cover-up of the nature
of the opposition movement which the U.S. State Department is at-

to bring to power in Panama. It is not the relative wealth which
the of the opposition enjoys, which makes the situation so
dangerous, but that this would-be government is led by the narcotics
mob!

Every key player identified in the first of EIR’s White Paper as
either a self-avowed Nazi, a terrorist, a pa t in the narcotics trade,
or some combination of those three, has appeared this summer, leading
the movement to overthrow the government.

Review the list:

From the outset, sections of the opposition movement have de-
manded that the old Nazi, Arnulfo Arias, be returned to power. Castro’s
friend Diaz Herrera declared from the outset that “Amulfo Arias is the
President of Panama.” Arias immediately joined in, ordering his sup-
porters to bring down the government, whatever the costs. “We don’t
want to shed blood, but if the military clique insists we will defend
ourselves. . . . Anything is allowed to topple this regime,” he raved.

The anti-Semitic convictions of many in the opposition have raised
fears that the anti-government movement might unleash its fury against
the Jewish elf, the Times d in mid-June.

The col nsa’s G nchez , hailed by the
U.S. liberal media as one of Panama’s most fearless journalists, exude
the raw anti-Semitism shared by many in the opposition’s leadership.
On July 7, he attacked Panama’s President Eric Delvalle as a “born-again
Jew.” On July 21, Sénchez Borbon praised the Nazi Arias as his leader,
and hailed Arias’ first period of government as the historical turning point
of all Panamanian history. “In his first presidency, Arias carried out a
profound social transformation without precedent, which has not been
surpassed to this day. For 56 years, he has been the axis [sic] around
which all political life in Panama has turned,” La Prensa’s star columnist
wrote. v

The leading “social transformations” of the first Arias presidency were
the introduction of Hitlerite race laws in Panama, whose implementation
was only blocked in 1941, when Arias was overthrown as a threat to the
Hemisphere because of his all Hitler’s

® Nicolas Ardito Barletta, te of dru on and bank
secrecy for drug money-laundering and son of one of Arias’ Nazi officials,
flew back from Washington (where he prefers to live) to join in “Operation
Overthraw.” So eager is he to see General Noriega eliminated, that he
declared that there might be some truth to Diaz Herrera'’s charge that
he, Barletta, had become president of Panama through fraud—althou
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he quickly added, he had always thought he had been a legitimate pres-
ident! :

® Christian Democrat Secretary General Guillermo Céchez has ap-
peared at the head of nearly every opposition rally. Céchez, cited in this
Report threatening to turn Panama into a new Nicaragua, was expos
in June, 1986 as one of the Panamanian politicians payrolled by drug
money-launderer Steven Samos, whose story we tell at length. Old Willie
couldn’t deny it; on June 15, 1986 a picture of a receipt written by Céchez
for money received from Samos, was published by Panamanian daily La
Repuiblica. Nonetheless, he has become a favorite of the Project Democ-
racy crew in Washington.

® The spokesman for the Chamber of Commerce during the June
strikes was César Tribaldos. As the summer anti-government campaign
escalated, Tribaldos was deployed to the Civic Crusade to serve as a
coordinator of the anti-government campaign. He has been up front
inciting citizens to disobey the law, telling them that “civil resistance
means not to obey, not to work, not to go to school, not to pay taxes.”
Newspapers identified Tribaldos as the ex-president of the Chambers of
Commerce, but readers of EIR know other means by which Tribaldos
has made his money. :

When the First Interamericas case broke in in 1985, Tribaldos was
named by one of the Colombian drug-runners as the man who laundered
$40 million through the Banco Continental for them. Getting caught
in the narcotics business seemed to be a family business; brother Ricardo
had been indicted the year before on charges of conspiracy to import
chemicals for use in processing cocaine inside Panama.

@ César Tribaldos sat on the board of directors of the Banco Conti-
nental. That bank, identified as a financial channel for the Christian
Democratic party, has also been active in Operation Overthrow. The
bank’s head, Roberto Motta, was one of nine conspirators accused of
“promoting public disorders of grave consequence for the nation” by
Panama'’s Legislative Assembly in June 1987.

® Roberto Eisenmann and his team at La Prensa are found at the
center of the anti-government insurgency. Eisenmann, who knows the
ropes in Washington after a year of study at Harvard, was given the job
by the U.S. embassy of recruiting other businessmen to the opposition
side, and coordinating opposition lobbying with the U.S Congress. He
also played a key role in securing financing for the opposition’s insurgency,
including putting its leaders in touch with a group of private U.S. citizens
who had contributed to Oliver North’s Contra fundraising.

La Prensa Contributing Editor Winston Robles, whose joint business
projects with dope money launderer Steven Samos are outlined in this
Report, has been meeting with the U.S. embassy’s deputy chief of mission,
John Maisto. Roberto Brenes, editor of La Prensa’s economic supplement,
is one of the top five men coordinating the Civic Crusade with Eisenmann
and Tribaldos. Tribaldos, in turn, is a business partner with Eisenmann
in several endeavors, serving both as his alternate on the board of Banco
Continental, and manager of Eisenmann’s department store, Mansién
Dante.

General Paredes’ political machine has also been active in the insur-
gency. Notable in this connection is the role of Alberto Conte, former
director of Paredes’ presidential campaign, and a writer for Eisenmann’s
La Prensa. Conte today heads a public relations firm called Latina Amer-
icana de Publicidad, and an outfit called the Social Studies Institute,
which have been used by the U.S. Agency for International Develop-
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Washington, D.C., states bluntly that the Crusade plans to escalate its
economic sabotage. “The delay of payments such as taxes and other
public services will be emphasized, accelerating the fiscal collapse of the
government,” the Crusade release declares. “Economic deterioration” and

“frustration” are “two elements that historically have fostered further

instability.” R
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There is nothing “native” about the movement to overthrow the gov-
ernment and military command of Panama: the “opposition” was created,
financed, and directed every step of the way from outside the country.
The opposition movement, a sort of Panamanian Contras, is the child
of Project Democracy, the secret, parallel government brought to public
light when the Iran-Contra scandal exploded in November 1986.

The foreign plotters complain that the leadership of the opposition
movement is incompetent, because they have been unable to rally the
population to their side. Arguments are given as to why this or that
faction must be given more support, because they will surely be more
successful. Each faction, in turn, proves no better than the last.

What those foreign plotters fail to understand, is that it is the very
nature of the operation which leads to failure. Teddy Roosevelt rein-
carnated as an “Oliver North Democrat,” is, after all, still Teddy Roose-
velt.

There is a name in Panama for men like the Eisenmanns, the Galindos,
the Arias Calderéns—men such as “Willie Coaches” who change their
name to curry favor in Washington. They are called “Bunau-Varillas,”
followers of the hated Philipe Bunau-Varilla who, as Panama’s agent,
signed the 1903 treaty with the United States which asserted perpetual
limited sovereignty for Panama.

General Noriega described these leaders succinctly this summer, as the
men who “sell Panama.”

But the so-called “opposition” movement in Panama is not only foreign
controlled; it is the Panamanian wing of an international conspiracy
whose aim is to impose a corporativist-fascist dictatorship upon the coun-
tries of the West, including within the United States itself. The only
thing “democratic” about this movement is its name. To understand
better how this opposition beast works, it is necessary to understand
something about its mother: Project Democracy.

ocracy was first known around the world as the so-called
trine,” a policy which asserted a U.S. right to dictate do-
mestic policies to its allies around the world, in the name of rolling back
communism worldwide. 1S
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Then, when the Iran-Contra scandal broke in November 1986, it was
revealed that Project Democracy was the codename given by Ollie North
to the covert network run out of the basement of the White House,
trading arms-for-hostages with Khomeini's terrorists, and using Swiss-
based drug launderers to channel the money to Nicaragua’s Contras. :
Hardly a policy to strengthen anti-communism’s cause. 5

EIR investigators soon unraveled the deeper story, a story told in full
in EIR’s Special Report, “Project Democracy: The ‘Parallel Government’
behind the Iran-Contra Affair.” The roots of Project Democracy extend
back twenty years, to Henry Kissinger's reorganization of the United
States’ National Security Council to be the central command post of a
virtual “government within the government,” working on behalf of West-
ern banking interests who seek to establish a new, supranational global
order, run as a condominium between Western bankers and the Russians.

Hatchet-men for this bankers’ dictatorship, were a network of right-
wing social-democratic organizations led by former followers of Soviet
“right oppositionist” N. Bukharin. Out to destroy the form of government
established by the U.S. Constitution, this grouping created its own chan-
nels of power, running through both private and public institutions,
which answered not to elected officials, but to these private interests,
thus establishing, in effect, a parallel government. ‘

In the wake of the oil crisis of 1973, these Western banking interests
founded the Trilateral Commission, to assure the smooth transmission
of policy orders to governments around the world, under conditions of
economic crisis which they fully expected would dominate the coming
decades. Thus, one of the first projects undertaken by the Trilaterals,
was a study on the “ungovernability” of modern democracy in an era of
economic crisis and social upheaval, a project directed by Zbigniew Brze-
zinski, then the director of the Trilateral Commission.

From that study came the international apparatus today known as
Project Democracy.

A cleaned-up version of the conclusions of the Trilaterals’ discussions,
was published in book form, under the title, The Crisis of Democracy,
written by Michael Crozier, Samuel Huntington, and Joji Watanuki.
The starting point of The Crisis of Democracy is the decline of such
economic progress as had characterized the 1960s, and the advent of the
post-industrial society. In his introduction, Brzezinski. compares the at-
mosphere of 1975 with the early 1920s, when Oswald Spengler published
his mystical The Decline of the West.

The book argues outright, that changes are needed in the political
system of the United States itself. “Democracy is more of a threat to
itself in the United States,” the Trilaterals state. The reason they offer
as to why reveals a sharp concern that under conditions of crisis, new
political currents could overturn their grip on power. They warn, “The
lesson of the 1960s was that American political parties were extraordi-
narily vulnerable organizations, in the sense that they could be easily
penetrated, and even captured, by highly motivated and well-organized
groups with a cause and a candidate.”

In 1975, the program of the Trilaterals was given a formal name:
“fascism with a democratic face.” The phrase was first floated by the so-
called Initiative Committee for National Economic Planning (ICNEP),
a group founded by such liberal economists as Wassily Leontief and ].K.
Galbraith. It soon began to surface from different corners, as a rallying
cry.

Certain prime financial supporters of the liberal wing of the Democratic
Party have a “hidden agenda for American politics . . . a planned econ-
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omy . . . state capitalism . . . fascism without the lampshade factories,”
Nicholas von Hoffman revealed in a Washington Post column in early
1975. In March 1975, Challenge magazine carried an article entitled,
“The Coming Corporatism.” That article explained:

Corporatism is a distinct form of economic structure. It was rec-

ognized as such in the 1930s by people of diverse political back-

grounds, before Hitler extinguished the enthusiasm which greeted

Mussolini’s variant. . . . This “corporatism” is a comprehensive eco-

nomic system under which the state intensively channels predom-

inantly privately owned business towards four goals, which have
become increasingly explicit during the current economic crisis:

Order, Unity, Nationalism, and “Success.”

. . . Let us not mince words. Corporatism is fascism with a human
face. What the parties are putting forward now is an acceptable face
of fascism; indeed a masked version of it, because so far the more
repugnant political and social aspects of the German and Italian
regimes are absent or only present in diluted form.

Steadily over the past two years, the United States has come under
the grip of this group. Under the Carter administration, it was no secret
that the Trilateral Commission ran the show. Under the Reagan admin-
istration, Project Democracy consolidated its vise-grip on policy by the
middle of 1983. When the quasi-public body, the National Endowmens
for Democracy (NED), was created in November 1983, the Trilaterals
had secured a new base for international and dosmetic operations. While
financed with government funds, the NED was established as a privaze
entity, operating outside of government oversight restrictions, Freedom
of Information Act requirements, and financial audits and accountability.

The NED was organized as a blatantly corporatist-fascist structure.
designating four subsidiary institutes to receive and deploy the bulk of
the public funding. These included:

1) The AFL-CIQO’s Free Trade Union Institute and its Western Hemi-
sphere affiliate AIFLD;

2) The U.S. Chamber of Commerce’s Center for International Private
Enterprise (CIPE);

3) The Republican National Committee’s newly created overseas “ac-
tion arm,” the National Republican Institute for International Affairs
(NRI);

4) The Democratic National Committee’s parallel group, the Nationz!
Democratic Institute for International Affairs (NDI).

From the outset, the NED was mandated to conduct an ambitious
program of intervention into the internal public and private institutions
of foreign nations, particularly the nations of Ibero-America, which have
received the bulk of NED official financing since its founding.

The five designated areas of NED operation listed in its charter doc-
uments, outlined the means by which the shock troops for Project De-
mocracy’s technocratic dictatorships would be recruited. These were:

1) “Leadership Training”: a euphemism for what more conventional.
earlier CIA training manuals would have referred to as “agent-in-place”
and “agent-of-influence” recruitment, training, and financing.

2) “Education”; training and broadly defined propaganda efforts.

3) “Strengthening the Institutions of Democracy”: funding of selected
labor unions, university programs, political parties, newspapers, business
groups, religious groups, and community action programs that would put
their resources at the disposal of the Trilateral Commission and IMF
agendas.
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4) ’: indoctrination and action pro-
paga
5) titutional Ties”: the build-up of

overt channels of influence through NED-linked personnel and with
agents-in-place and agents-of-influence operating in the countries tqrﬁ’
geted by the various NED covert action programs.

The program had been lifted straight from the Trilateral's Crisis m
Democracy project. Point seven in the list of concluding statements at-
tached as an appendix to that book was, “Creation of New Institutions
for the Cooperative Promotion of Democracy.” Promotion of the Tri-
lateral’s plans required an international effort, point seven argues. “One
might consider, therefore, means of securing support and resources from
foundations, business corporations, labor unions, political parties, civic
associations, and where possible and appropriate, government agencies;
for the creation of an institute for the strengthening of democratic in-
stitutions.”

Although operating domestically within the United States as well, the
NED has become the central headquarters of the international operations
of Project Democracy. Sovereign nation-states, obstacles to the global
“New Yalta” to which Project Democracy is committed, became its pri-
mary target. Around the world, Project Democracy’s hit-squads have
been organizing coups, destabilizing friendly governments, financing cov-
ert operations in support of insurgencies.

In Ibero-America, Project Democracy has targeted the institutions
which have formed the backbone of the republics of the region from
their founding: the labor movement, the Catholic Church and, with
extraordinary zeal, the military. Once these institutions are weakened
or destroyed, the nation-states’ capabilities to mobilize resistance to the
designs of international finance will have been destroyed.

In Panama, that meant the destruction of the civic-military alliance
established under Gen. Omar Torrijos in Panama. And General Noriega,
organizing throughout the region on the necessity for the military to

ate in the formulation of all aspects of national policy,
ical ing economic policy, was an obstacle to be removed.

Every asset in Project Democracy’s arsenal has been thrown against Pan-
ama, both covert and “official.” Project Democracy’s tontrol over “Op-
eration Overthrow” in Panama came to light, as the details of the criminal
and covert activities of the covert NSC network exposed by the Iran-
Contra scandal. [t was National Security Council Director Admiral Poin-
dexter himself who directed the initial set-up of the CIA’s and State
Department’s operations against Panama, which are detailed in EIR’s
original White Paper.

Poindexter did more than coordinate the operation. InDecember 1985,
he traveled to Panama, requested a meeting with General Noriega, and
there threatened him that either he got out of office, or he would be
destroyed.

On June 12, 1986, as EIR’s White Paper went to press, the New York
Times published a full-page slander against General Noriega. Penned by
old intelligence hand Seymour Hersh, the article called Noriega every-
thing from a drug-runner to a Cuban agent, money-launderer, and the
murderer of Spadafora. The article was a masterpiece of innuendo and
allegations, for no proof of any charge was presented.

One intelligence official quoted attempted to cover the lack of “proof”
by asserting that Noriega is “brilliant in masking much of his direct
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involvement” in his alleged illegal activities. Hersh promised that the
CIA had proof, but that it remained “classified.” All U.S. officials cited
in the article requested to remain anonymous, Hersh wrote, except one:
Adm. John Poindexter.

To be sure the message got across, Hersh followed up the next day
with a second article, reporting that U.S. agencies had once before
threatened to assassinate Noriega, in the 1970s.

Panamanian President Eric Delvalle answered: “I personally think that
they, the New York Times, have lied. What is the importance of a
publication in the New York Times—however big the name of the New
York Times might be—if they don’t dare to say who said it?”

After Poindexter was fired, it became public: It was Poindexter who
told Hersh to pen his page of slander, and handed him the “dossier” on
which it was based.

To date, that June 1986 Poindexter-Hersh bit of psychological warfare,
continues to be cited as the “proof” of General Noriega’s corruption and
malfeasance.

When General Noriega refused to resign under pressure, the Project
Democracy crowd set out to lay the groundwork for insurrection inside
Panama.

Demonstrating a remarkable lack of originality in their schemes, Project
Democracy’s planners turned to their leading “success story” interna-
tionally—the ouster of the Marcos regime in the Philippines—as the
model for overthrowing Noriega and the Delvalle government. While
General Noriega is not Ferdinand Marcos, not only has the Aquino
operation in the Philippines provided the blueprint for the Panama op-
eration, but the same people who ran the Philippines operation have been
transferred to Panama to repeat their performance!

The bringing to power of Aquino’s “people’s power” movement was
run from Washington. For three years, State Department officials and
Project Democracy’s agents built up a “young officers’ reform movement”
against Ferdinand Marcos inside the Filipino military; encouraged and
directed the civilian opposition movement; ordered international credit
cuts against the country; coordinated international control over national
elections; orchestrated an unbroken press campaign against the “Marcos
dictatorship.”

At times, Cory Aquino’s appearances on U.S. national television
became so frequent, that it seemed she was running for the presidency
of the United States.

On Feb. 25, 1986, President Marcos was “invited” onto a U.S. Air
Force jet, and flown out of the Philippines to exile in Hawaii. Within
hours of his leaving, a senior Reagan administration official bragged to
reporters: “We had to follow a very careful path of our public statements
and our private actiofts in order to achieve the stable outcome that we
sought many, many months ago. I believe this is a classical example of
a policy which set goals—and then dealt with a series of evolving cir-
cumstances—and in the end achieved what we set out to achieve.”

Since that coup, Cory Aquino’s “democratic” regime has adopted a
tougher International Monetary Fund program than any to which Marcos
had ever agreed. Major sections of national industry have been sold to
New York bankers in “payment” for the foreign debt, while credit for
local indusgry has been restricted.

As conditions of life collapse under the program, communist organizing
has advanced. Today, the Soviet-run New People’s Army (NPA)
an estimated 20-30% of the country. Philippine security experts estimate
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that the NPA has now positioned itself to seize power in two
years, if no comprehensive program, including national re-
covery, is undertaken to fight the insurgency.

Is this the “end” the State Department set out to achieve? If not, why
is the State Department today repeating. in Panama, step—by—step, the
same “careful path of public statements and private actions” which has
brought the Philippines to the brink of national disintegration and com-
munist takeover!?

Within two months of Marcos’ overthrow, a team of State Department
officials was posted to Panama, to turn Poindexter’s threats into action.

John Maisto was named Deputy Chief of Mission in Panama, under
Ambassador Arthur Davis. From his position as State Department Desk
Officer for the Philippines in 1985-86, Maisto had played a crucial role
in setting up Project Democracy’s overthrow of Marcos, and was proud
of it.

Inan Aug. 16, 1985 cover story, EIR published Maisto’s own admissions
of his seditious activities against the Philippines. “We are providing the
public support” for the young officers’ group, We Belong, Maisto had
bragged. “We deal with them, but it is not that we're going out slapping
a U.S. label on them, because that’s the last thing they need.”

Married to a Filipino woman himself, he coordinated the opposition
movement based in the United States. Maisto praised the opposition’s
role in the Parliament, for their “very active, very positive role. They're
keeping the government on its toes. . . . They're making life difficult for
the government.”

Sounding every bit a socialist, Maisto stressed that the State Depart-
ment was “trying to target our economic assistance, so that it helps break
down the vested structures of the economic system. It helps the Filipinos
dismantle the monopoly capitalist system that they have. . . . The IMF
and the World Bank are targeting their assistance, and we have an awful
lot of input into the IMF and the World Bank.”

Joining Maisto in Panama was David Cohen, another Philippine hand
sent in to work with the Agency for International Development (AID)
office in Panama. Cohen had also been posted to Paraguay, when Davis
had been ambassador to that country.

Taking up the job of commercial attaché at the embassy was David
Miller, another who had helped direct the Philippines “democratic coup,”
along with Maisto. (Miller’s activities soon extended beyond the com-
mercial realm; on Sept. 13, 1987 he was arrested while “enthusiastically
participating” in an anti-government demonstration.)

With the embassy staff reorganized around its new task—that of over-
throwing the government—operations to retool the opposition move-
ment into an instrument of power began in earnest.

Exemplary of the way the Project Democracy crowd created the oppo-
sition, are AID’s operations in the Panamanian business community over
1986-817.

AID had been in on the ground floor of the creation of Project De-
mocracy’s National Endowment for Democracy, providing $300,000 in
1982 to finance a six-month study called “The Democracy Project,” by
the American Political Foundation. Out of that Foundation study, came
the outlines of the legislation that a year later established the NED.

Today, the AID has become the leading U.S. governmental agency
working to impose the economic “development” strategy advocated by
the NED: legalizing the black, or illegal, economy. Increasingly, AID
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expected to more than double in 1988. Another $1.5 million in schol-
arships in 1987 has been allocated for “key groups in Panamanian society
which are likely to play leading roles in Panama’s political and economic
evolution,” with this category rising to $3.5 million in 1988. AID’s report

spe does not include 1 scholarships for:
agr h programs, but is s icated to foste’rlr}g
its

® In 1988, a whole new program of “private enterprise support” is
planned, with an expected expenditure of nearly $700,000.

Qther monies in this category of “democratic support” are provided
for “free and democratic trade unions,” and a program to train members
of the judicial branch.

AlID’s official publications declare that the policy guiding their activ-
ities in Panama is to overtumn the legacy of Torrijismo in Panama—the
conception that the task of government is to assure broad-scale national
development—and to establish in its stead, rule by “free enterprise,”
where no national group can ever again refuse to submit to the austerity
policies demanded by international financial agencies. The report states:

Panama faces continuing economic problems requiring financial dis-

cipline, additional policy reform, and external assistance. An in-

terventionist public sector philosophy has held sway since the early
1970s, resulting in a bloated public sector, distortion of the econ-

omy’s price structure and resource allocation. . . .

With the passage of reform legislation in early 1986, the stage
has been set for an economic restructuring and greater reliance on
market forces. Changes in the labor code provide incentives for
increased productivity at lower costs. The Industrial Incentives Law
will reduce tariffs, eliminate most import quotas and reduce pro-
tection levels. . . . The Agricultural Incentives Law will encourage
production of commodities for which Panama has a comparative
advantage. . . .

Panama’s standby agreement with the International Monetary
Fund (IMF), signed in July 1985, was suspended in early 1986 but
is now back on track. . . .

AID’s specific objectives in Panama are to: (1) assist the govern-
ment in implementing its fiscal stabilization program; (2) assist in
the transition to a leaner, more efficient public sector, including
the divestiture of public enterprises; (3) encourage the transition
from an economy based on import substitution to one based on
efficient private sector production and exports. . . .

AID channeled monies, for example, into the Social Sciences Institute,
headed by Alberto Conte, which was assigned the task of profiling Pan- ,
ama’s business leaders, to select those to be recruited to the opposition
movement. Financing for those willing to work with the embassy’s move-
ment was held out as an incentive from the beginning. “We sent out a
number of letters to the private sector offering general financing for
projects that would strengthen democracy,” an AID official explained to
a Panamanian paper.

Later, this profiling operation would also utilize the contacts of banker-
publisher Robert Eisenmann to build the opposition. After organizing
his business allies to the idea of joining a U.S.-sponsored coup attempt,
Eisenmann put the people he found interested in touch with Rep. Stephen
Solarz, the Democratic congressman from New York state who, as chair-
man of the House Foreign Relations Subcommittee on Asian and Pacific
Affairs, had led the congressional side of “Operation Overthrow Marcos.”

Eisenmann also placed people in contact with private U.S. financial

P25






Panama’s ‘Cardinal
sin’

NED deploys the
T<-nate, too

EIR Special Report

Perhaps the most lasting impression was left by NAMFREL, which
received accblades from everyone in the group for its training, or-
ganization, professionalism, and commitment to uphold the integrity
of the election process. Members of the delegation were eager to

iques ware- ,-*
result poll-
are u

For Father Guardia, his participation in the Philippines observers team
became a virtual religious experience. The trip was “an entire rebirth,
ineffable, which cannot be repeated, and which left indelible marks,”
Guardia wrote in the May 31 issue of the Panamanian newspaper, Catélica.
“Among the miracles of the Philippines, there is NAMFREL, which is
the acronym for a civic institution which is a model for the entire free.
world. . . . A national movement of citizens for free elections.” Guardia
provided the paper with a picture of himself, standing proudly next to
Cory Aquino.

From the outset of the June riots, Father Guardia placed himself at
the front of the opposition movement, declaring that the Catholic Church
would take an “activist role” in the crisis. Guardia himself joined the
Civic Crusade in an “advisory” role. Guardia soon began saying Mass,
especially for the opposition, and using his homilies to repeat that “the
people . . . say no to the arrogance of power.”

While not all the Catholic Church in Panama agreed with Guardia’s
“activist role” in the political situation, Guardia enjoyed the protection
of Archbishop Marcos McGrath, who himself hoped to win world fame
as the “Cardinal Sin” of Panama.

McGrath has been involved with the Project Democracy conspiracy
from the beginning, and at a much higher level than Father Guardia.
McGrath is a member of the Inter-American Dialogue, the informal
Western Hemisphere “back-channel” which, since its founding in 1983,
has set the Eastern Establishment’s policy agenda for the region, on
matters of drugs, the military, and economics.

The Dialogue—founded and chaired to this day by that old Panama
“expert,” Sol Linowitz—has quietly played a leading role in organizing
the Panama crisis, lining up international support behind another of its
leading Panamanian participants, Nicolds Ardito Barletta, around whom
the entire crisis has centered.

McGrath’s support for Project Democracy’s political ambitions in Pan-
ama is not the first time he has put his loyalty to his friends in the
international financial elite above his obedience to his religious superior,
Pope John Paul II. In 1986, McGrath, like Barletta, gave his signature
in support of the Dialogue’s 1986 call that “selective legalization of
narcotics” be considered as an alternative to winning a war on drugs, a
position in diametrical opposition to Pope John Paul II’s calls for Catholics
everywhere to commit themselves to battle the evil slavery of the drug
trade.

“When you see myself and Jesse Helms taking the same side on an issue,
you have nothing to worry about,” the liberal senator from Massachusetts,
Edward Kennedy, reportedly assured his Civic Crusade friends. There is
a lesson to be learned from the spectacle of liberal and conservative
members of Congress falling over themselves to impose sanctions on
Panama. Loyalty to Project Democracy’s “democratic dictatorship” has
become a more powerful allegiance than ideology or party.

Whereas North Carolina’s “conservative” Senator Jesse Helms first
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took up the cause of the Panamanian opposition movement on the Senate
floor, today it is the liberals like Massachusetts’ Edward Kennedy and
California’s Alan Cranston who claim, “I'm a Crusade member, too.”
Nor can the anti-Panama campaign be explained as a product of a Re-
publican administration, for it is the Democratic Party’s International
Institute which has now taken the lead.

From Helms to Cranston, the leading sponsors of the “Get Panama”
campaign on Capitol Hill, are active supporters of Project Democracy'’s
NED.

Take the sponsors of the two Senate Resolutions presented in August
which demanded the imposition of U.S. trade sanctions and a cutoff of
aid, until a new “transitional government” is installed in Panama.

Sen. Alan Cranston introduced Senate Resolution 1650, the so-called
“Democracy in Panama Act of 1987,” which seeks to prohibit the im-
portation of any Panamanian sugar or sugar product into the United
States, and co-sponsored S. 1614, a resolution labeled simply, “To restrict
United States assistance to Panama.” Lately, he has been leading the
hue and cry against Panama from the Senate floor.

On Nov. 17, Cranston received the “W. Averell Harriman Democracy
Award” from the NED's National Democratic Institute for International
Affairs (NDI), for his “achievements in defense of democracy and human
rights.” Cranston shared the award with Argentine President Radl Al-
fonsin. The NDI praised Cranston for having “authored legislation which
puts human rights at the forefront of his country’s foreign policy.”

Panama is not the only country which has received the brunt of
Cranston’s “democratic” zeal. In 1985, Cranston hosted, along with Rep.
Stephen Solarz, the Washington visits of Filipino opposition leaders.

Sen. Alfonse D’ Amato, the conservative-talking Republican from New
York, was the author of S. 1614, and has volunteered to testify before
Senate committees against Panama. From the outset, D’Amato has been
a champion of the NED, playing an active role in assuring that Congress
voted up the appropriations demanded by the NED.

Sen. Edward Kennedy, a co-sponsor of both Senate resolutions, has
become the Civic Crusade’s “Godfather” on the Hill. While Kennedy,
too, played a role in Project Democracy’s Philippines-bashing (he forced
through U.S. governmental investigations into alleged corruption by the
Philippine government before the Aquino coup), until he jumped onto
the Panama bandwagon, his primary work with Project Democracy fo-
cused on the United States.

Kennedy has long been an activist for Project Democracy's efforts to
effect a cold coup against the U.S. Constitution. In 1978, Kennedy was
the keynote speaker at the founding conference of the Brookings Insti-
tute’s “Project 1987,” one of the initial study groups formed to draw up
proposals for how to “reform” the U.S. Constitution to replace the pres-
idential system with a parliamentary system modeled on that of Great
Britain.

On Oct. 6, 1987, yet another Senate Resolution attacking Panama as
a “military dictatorship” was discussed in the Senate. This time, its merits
were debated at the same time as a proposal to increase funding for an
NED project in Nicaragua. Thus, Senators Helms and Christopher Dodd
(another anti-Panama activist), literally alternated between their praise
for the NED, and attacks on Panama! (This resolution, which was not
passed by the Senate, stated that the U.S. Senate considers the Panama
Canal Treaties null and void unless Panama formally accepts a U.S. right
to intervene in Panamanian affairs, as written in the DeConcini Res-
ervation.) >
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Dodd, too, was in on the creation of the NED from the ground floor,
serving in the”American Political Foundation’s 1982 “Democracy Pro-
gram” which drew up the legislation for the NED.

After the opposition’s insurgency took off in June, Project Democracy -

decided it was time to build up that movement into a credible alternative
to govern in Panama. The headquarters for the operation was not es-
tablished in Panama—but in Washington, D.C.!

NATIONAL CIVIC CRUSADE OF PANAMA, INC.
1730 M Street N.W., Suite 402

Washington, D.C. 20036

Telephone: (202) 429-2267

On July 13, 1987, the Panamanian opposition was officially incor-
porated under the name of “National Civic Crusade of Panama,” hereafter
the Crusade, at the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs of
the government of the District of Columbia, under File 872441. The
Crusade registered itself as an “organization exempt from federal taxation”
with the purpose of carrying out political and propagandistic work against
the Republic of Panama in the United States. ,

Three Panamanians undersigned the incorporation documents: Ed-
uardo Antonio Lewis (son of Gabriel Lewis Galindo), Rufino Flores, and
Milton Ruiz, listed as the Crusade’s Secretary-Treasurer. In the beginning,
the Crusade operated from Suite 605 at 1730 M Street, N.W,, but by
September, a larger and more expensive suite was rented in the same
building, two floors down, in Suite 402, from where they are currently
running their subversive activities.

The key individual behind the Crusade’s activities in Washington is
Gabriel Lewis Galindo, former Panamanian ambassador to the United
States. Other prominent members are businessman Roberto Brefies; Mil-
ton Ruiz; Eduardo Vallarino, former president of the National Caucus
for Private Enterprise; Gilbert Mallol, former president of the Panamanian
Chamber of Commerce; José Pretto; and Diégenes de la Rosa, an old
Trotskyist ideologue, diplomat, and university professor.

The Crusade activities, in Washington primarily consist of giving press
conferences, lobbying on Capitol Hill, holding demonstrations, and doing
whatever is required to gain U.S. support for their “cause.” In press
conferences that they have held since they were officially established,
they failed to give a credible explanation of why they are based in
Washington, or what their “strategy” is to gain power.

On Oct. 27, the Crusade leadership called a press conference to try
to convince the U.S. media that although the Oct. 22 demonstration
had been “poorly attended,” it was really “a step forward in the process
of democratization.” The demonstration had been labeled beforehand as
the “beginning of the end of Noriega.”

The Crusade members, all of whom claimed to have fled Panama in
fear for their lives, said that their plans to take power consist of calling
for many “demonstrations” inside Panama in order to “militarily im-
mobilize” the country. They said they believe December 1987 will be a
turning point in their campaign to “take over,” since the Panamanian
government will not be able to pay government workers their Christmas
bonus due to the deep economic crisis Panama is going through. At that
point, the Crusade believes, workers will turn against the government,
a sector which even they acknowledge continues thus far to back the
government.
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Commission member Sol Linowitz. But his most useful connection has
been Ambassador William John Jorden.

7eq1s Jorden is the “hands-on” Eastern Establishment man running the Pan-
W llllam Jorden amanian opposition. A member of the New York-based blueblood Council™*
on Foreign Relations, Jorden began his “diplomatic career” as foreign,
correspondent for the New York Times. From 1948 to 1958, Jorden wrote
for the New York Times from Japan, Korea, and the Soviet Union. He
joined the State Department in 1958 as a member of the policy planning
countil. In 1968, he participated in the Vietnam Peace Talks in Paris,
working under W. Averell Harriman and Henry Kissinger. In 1969, then-
President Lyndon B. Johnson named him his assistant, before he was
sent to Panama as U.S. ambassador from 1974 to 1978, the only such
post he has ever held. Once back in the United States, he became a-
scholar in residence at the Lyndon B. Johnson Library.

It was during the 1970s Panama Canal Treaty negotiations, when
Washington, that Jorden and Lewis first worked closely together. In
Panama Odyssey, Jorden’s book reviewing the Treaty negotiations, he
writes effusively of Lewis Galindo being “Gabriel, my friend and partner,”
and “my Panamanian brother.”

There is only one other Panamanian of whom Jorden writes as warmly:
Nicolas Ardito Barletta, whom Jorden considers “the best mind in Pan-
ama,” “one of the finest economic intellects” in Latin America.

Today, the three are collaborating again. This summer, Jorden ap-
peared on ABC’s Nightline to lie to the American people about the
situation in Panama repeating, once again, the now-famous allegations
against Noriega. He tried to give credibility to his story by speaking from
a position of “former U.S. ambassador” to Panama who “witnessed” the
relationship between Panama’s Defense Forces and the CIA.

In recent months, Jorden has become the star witness for the “get
Noriega” gang in Capitol Hill, testifying in favor of the Crusade. Before
the Senate Subcommittee on Western Hemispheric Affairs, on Oct. 22,
Jorden—one of three “public” witnesses—said that in his “long history
of knowledge” on Panama, he has never seen such a “sustained daily
repetition of popular sentiment” against the government. Characterizing
Noriega as the “most corrupt fellow in recent history,” he said that
Noriega’s connections to drugs are “not out of my mind.”

Sen. Jesse Helms asked Jorden whether he would be interested in
serving as an “impartial observer” in the event of elections in Panama.
“Yes,” Jorden replied. “We recommend you,” Helms concluded.

VE TN TRRE I TR RN LA

SUSAN DAVIS INTERNATIONAL
1818 N Street N.W., Suite 350
Washington, D.C. 20036
Telephone: (202) 775-8801

Susan Davis International, formerly Susan Davis and Associates, was
hired by the Crusade as their public relations and lobbying firm as well
as legal representative in Washington, D.C.

The firm’s president, Susan Davis, is registered as a foreign agent with
the U.S. Department of Justice under register Number 3444, hired to
lobby for the Crusade among its other foreign clients. In documents filed
with the Department of Justice, Susan Davis described her role as the
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U.S. ambassador to the Organization of American States and co-nego-
tiator of the Panama Canal Treaties, and Galo Plaza, former president
of Ecuador and secretary general of the OAS, to serve as a self-described
group of “concerned citizens from the United States, Canada, Latin

Americ and discuss and offer
mendat »
The 15, 1983, under the

of the Woodrow Wilson Center for Scholars at the Smithsonian Insti-
tution. Among those who attended the founding conference were David
Rockefeller, chairman of Chase Manhattan Bank and the Council of the
Americas; Roberto Goizueta, chairman of the board of Coca Cola, Inc.;
and Daniel Oduber, former president of Costa Rica. In 1986, Rodrigo
Botero, Lépez Michelsen’s finance minister, served as co-vice chairman
of the Dialogue. .

Today, the Inter-American Dialogue operates under the auspices of
the Aspen Institute for Humanistic Studies, and is financed with grants
from foundations and corporations. They have issued three major reports:
“The Americas at a Crossroads” (April 1983), “The Americas in 1984:
A Year for Decisions” (May 1984) and the latest, “Rebuilding Cooper-
ation in the Americas” (October 1986).

In their 1986 report, the Inter-American Dialogue recommends, among
other things, the legalization of drugs. On page 40, the report reads:
“The illegality of drugs, however, makes the damage greater for both the
addicts and for the societies of the Americas. . . . Societies suffer from
the crimes committed to finance drug habits. . . . If selective legalization
of drugs could reduce the enormous profits derived from drug trafficking,
it would decrease vice and corruption. It might also shift demand away
from the most harmful drugs.”

On page 32 of that report, the Inter-American Dialogue spells out
their support for the National Endowment for Democracy, and its agenda
in the Americas. “Democratic government should not provide economic
or military assistance to regimes that systematically engage in violations
of basic human rights,” the Report urged, adding that the Dialogue
planned to create a special task force to study civilian-military relations
in Ibero-America, with a mandate to issue “detailed recommendations”
on how to “institutionalize civilian control of the armed forces.” The
Report calls for “expanding the mandate, resources, and influence” of
the OAS Inter-American Commission on Human Rights to intervene
in countries’ internal affairs to “promote democracy.”

The Dialogue’s 1987 conference, held Oct. 19-10 in Washington,
centered its discussions on the Central American situation. At the con-
clusion, the Dialogue called for the U.S. government to “negotiate se-
curity concerns” directly with the Sandinista regime. A Dialogue’s Task
Force on Central America was formed, chaired by Daniel Oduber and
former Secretary of Defense Elliott Richardson, also an NED board mem-
ber. Both Oduber and Richardson testified in favor of the Sandinistas
before the House Foreign Affairs Committee chaired by Rep. Dante
Fascell, a strong advocate and supporter of the National Endowment for
Democracy.

Oduber, for his part, in 1986 acquired some notoriety as regards the
drug trade. On Nov. 24 of that year, Costa Rica’s major newspaper, La
Nacién, reported that U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration agent Dan-
iel E. Moritz had named Oduber in testimony before a U.S. federal judge
in the southern district of Florida, as part of his extradition request against
drug-trafficker Carleton Ciceres. Céceres’ mob used Costa Rica as a major
transshipment point, and Moritz testified, according to La Nacién, that
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“other arrangements were made to utilize a strip referred to a ‘la Flore™
on the farm belonging to forme Costa Rican President Daniel Oduber.
located in the Liberia section of the Guanacaste Province.”
Questioned by La Nacién on the Florida trial transcripts, Oduber re-
sponded: “I hope you publish this so that I can continue with another
trial. . . . [ want to see it published first, then I will comment in court.”
To date, EIR is not aware of any suit filed by Oduber.
From the Panamanian side, the two most active members are:
Nicoldas Ardito Barletta, one of the few Ibero-Americans who has
attended all conferences since the first one, in 1983, when he was sall
vice president of the World Bank for Latin America and the Caribbean.
Marcos McGrath, C.S.G., Archbishop of Panama since 1969. Member
of the radical Theology of Liberation dissident current whithin the Cath-
olic church, McGrath is regarded as one of the Crusade’s strongest sup-
porters.

INTERAMERICAN COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS
1889 F Street N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20006

Telephone: (202) (458-6002)

The Human Rights Commission of the OAS accused the government
of Panama of killing narco-terrorist Hugo Spadafora in a report issued in
October 1987. The Commission added that the government of Panama
had violated several articles of the American Convention on Human
Rights in the death of Spadafora. The panel issued its “findings” in a 77-
page report.

The OAS Commission works closely with the Washington-based In-
ternational Human Rights Law Group. A representative of the latter was
invited by the Crusade to “witness the brutal repression” at the failed
demonstration called by the opposition Oct. 22. At her return, the group
representative gave an eyewitness report to the media on what she called
an “unprecedented level of arrests without warrants.”

The Inter-American Human Rights Commission report was praised by
Secretary of State George Shultz as an “impressive public report” at this
year's OAS General Assembly.

Members of the OAS Commission include, among others, the Ar-
gentine Inter-American Dialogue member Elsa Kelly and Bruce McColm,

co-director of Freedom House, a human rights international group f-
nanced by the NED.

NATIONAL DEMOCRATIC INSTITUTE FOR
INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

1717 Massachusetts Ave. N.W., Suite 605
Washington, D.G. 20036

Telephone: (202) 328-3136

Financed by NED, the National Democratic Institute has announced
plans to “move big” in Panama in 1988. NDI plans to launch a “far-
reaching project” in Panama “working with all the opposition parties”
to “bring democracy back.” The preparatory work for the 1988 final attack
has taken place in Washington with a series of “planning sessions” be-
tween NDI officials and Crusade representatives.

In May of this year, NDI sponsored a trip of twenty-four political
parties and civic leaders from 11 countries to the Philippines to “learn
from the country’s recent experiences in election reform and admini®
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tration.” The Panamanian delegation was formed by Aurelio Barrfa,
president of thé Chamber of Commerce; Luis Carlos Chen, member of
the Election Tribunal; and Father Fernando Guardia, vicar general of
the Archidiocese of Panama.

In the fall of 1987, Christian Democratic Congressman Guillermo .
Céchez was listed on the NDI visitors’ list as “Willie Coaches,” apparently
in an effort to hide his real identity. Céchez, or “Coaches,” and Barrid
are NDI's contact persons inside Panama.

Former Vice President Walter Mondale is NDI chairman. NDI's work
on Panama is being encouraged by several legislators, including Senators
Bill Bradley, Edward Kennedy, and Alan Cranston, honored with NDI's
“\f/. Averell Harriman Democracy Award” Nov. 18, 1987.

NATIONAL SECURITY COUNCIL
Old Executive Office Building
Washington, D.C.

The departure of John Poindexter and Oliver North from the National
Security Council did not end the NSC'’s role as a key player within the
administration in the destabilization of Panama. All of those who replace
the Poindexter team are known to share the same views on Panama,
particularly the need to dump Noriega at any cost and bring the Crusade
to power.

NSC Director for Latin American Affairs Ludlow Flower, is known
to be very close to the Crusade, and, in particular, a close personal friend
of Lewis Galindo. In a public forum at the Georgetown University cam-
pus, organized by the Crusade, Flower spoke on-the-record to attack the
Panamanian government and gain votes for an “early return to democ-
racy."

“Noriega is not our baby . . . this guy ain’t ours, we deal with all kinds
of characters around the world,” Flower said in response to the audience’s
hostile accusations that the U.S. government is responsible for keeping
Noriega in power. “Noriega is a Panamanian creation, an unwanted
offspring of your own nationalism,” he told the Panamanian audience.

SCHOOL OF ADVANCED INTERNATIONAL STUDIES
THE JOHNS HOPKINS UNIVERSITY

1740 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20036

Telephone: (202) 663-5728

SAIS’ Latin American Studies Program director is Dr. Riordan Roett,
an academician hired by Wall Street banks as an “adviser” on Latin
American affairs. Since the arrival of the Crusade in Washington, Roett
and his staff have been collaborating closely with them, making available
the University's facilities for their press conferences and putting them in
touch with academic circles.

SAIS has been one of the main think tanks pushing for the simultaneous
“democratization” and “privatization” of Panama. In September 1986,
SAIS sponsored the first academic seminar in Washington on the internal
situation of Panama. The one-day seminar featured, on the U.S. side,
former NSC Adviser Norman Bailey, State Department Panama Desk
Director Richard Wyrough, World Bank official Gunter Koenig and,
Inter-American Defense Board official, Col. Jack Barnes. Panama’s op-
position was represented by Christian Democratic Party leader Ricardo
Arias Calderon and banker-journalist Roberto Eisenmann. Then-Pana-
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U.S. embassy
backing

State Department spokesman Charles Redman charged September 1987
that the Panamanian government is carrying out a “disinformation and
defamation campaign” against the United States, which involves fabri-
cating reports that the United States is intervening in the internal affairs
of Panama. The United States has shown “respect for Panamanian do-
mestic issues,” he insisted.

The audacity of such a lie on the part of those officials may sway
American public opinion—from whom the facts have been hidden by
the U.S. media—but only adds to the United States’ disgrace on an
international scale.

The record of United States’ intervention in Panama since the crisis
began in June 1987, has been unmatched in Ibero-America since the
days of Teddy Roosevelt. The U.S. administration has adopted its crude
tactics with Panama, as it has become clear that its only hope for over-
throwing the government lies in sheer force; the opposition politicians
have failed utterly to win support within the country.

When Diaz Herrera’s June 1 retirement from the Defense Forces threat-
ened to upset the opposition’s plans for a coup, the opposition moved
forward their schedule. On June 6, Diaz Herrera called his press confer-
ence; by June 9, the opposition had sent its first people out in the streets,
demanding the resignation of General Noriega.

From the outset, the U.S. State Department backed the opposition’s
charges. As rioters marched in the streets crying “Viva Diaz Herrera,”
the U.S. embassy declared that it “strongly supports the efforts of Pan-
amanians to get all the facts out in the open in a mannéer that is fair to
all. Panamanians can resolve the situation only on the basis of the truth.”

When Panama’s government declared a state of emergency on June
11, to stop street disturbances from escalating, the State Department
protested. The United States “continues to support firmly the return of
Panama to a state of full and functioning democracy,” State’s spokesman
Phyllis Oakley warned. She added, “We also support the goal of free and
untarnished elections, and the full development of an apolitical, profes-
sional military institution.”

The U.S. embassy declared it hoped the state of emergency would be
“short-lived.”

On June 14, a former Panamanian military officer, Luis G. Suérez,
reported that Ambassador Davis had been meeting with officers of the
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PDF, to request they remove General Noriega as commander, take charge
of the PDF themselves, and call new elections. The U.S. embassy issued
a reply: “The ambassador is meeting with a whole variety of people across
the spectrum. We will talk with anybody who will meet with us for an
exchange of ideas.”

Financial and economic warfare against Panama was soon a topic for
open debate.

“The World Bank is the linchpin,” the Washington Times reported on
June 16. The Times laid out the World Bank’s no-lose strategy: The Bank
is demanding conditionalities on disbursat of a $50 million loan—layoffs
of public sector employees, reductions of social security benefits, priva-
tization of the economy—which, if the government attempts to imple-
ment them, will create a popular backlash against the government. If
the government refuses the conditionalities, the government will face a
cutoff of all international loans.

“Nobody is even willing to enter into negotiations to reschedule Pan-
ama’s $4 billion foreign debt until the World Bank loan comes through,”
the Times reported.

Panama’s foreign debt problems soon became a regular of U.S. media
coverage of the Panama crisis. A June 22 Los Angeles Times story captured
the thinking of Panama’s enemies. Civil disobedience has “weakened
Panama’s ability to manage its $4 billion foreign debt, making Noriega
more vulnerable to U.S. pressures to withdraw from politics,” they as-
serted.

Assistant Secretary of State Elliott Abrams remained at the front of the
Panama destabilization. On June 18, his office issued a statement ac-
knowledging that he had met that day with Panamanian hotel magnate,
Gabriel Lewis Galindo, the self-described “international representative
of the Panamanian opposition.”

Lewis Galindo had fled to the U.S. after a proposal he had been
circulating was captured. The proposal revealed that he had sought for
President Delvalle and General Noriega to be expelled from the country,
the Supreme Court, Legislative Assembly, and Electoral Councils dis-
solved, and a junta established to rule the country.

By mid-June, it was clear General Noriega was not willing to retire at
the first shot. U.S. embassy officials called in opposition leaders, to
revamp their strategy.

CIA henchmen were demanding more be done—rapidly—to crack
the Noriega problem. The United States must “assign to [the Panama
case] the high priority it deserves,” wrote CIA socialist Cord Meyer, in
a column printed by the New York Post on June 18. “What is needed is
the kind of high-level crisis management team drawn from State, Defense,
NSC, and CIA that Yunctioned so well in handling the Philippine prob-
lem.”

A new tactic, taken straight from the Philippine experience, was now
advanced. If the Panamanian government could be forced to advance
the scheduled date of the presidential elections, to ease international
pressures against the country, Project Democracy would then have suc-
ceeded in placing itself in the driver’s seat of Panamanian affairs. With
sovereignty ceded—even once—the overthrow of Noriega and the gov-
ernment would then be only a matter of time.

Embassy officials propose that the Civic Crusade “consider dropping
its demand for Noriega’s ouster, in exchange for presidential elections
late this year or next,” Chamber of Commerce head Aurelio Barrfa tol®




ryirwme ww 2~

| TN, ]

Wy

Y

U.S. Senate rule
over anama’l

EIR Special Report

the Los Angeles Times on June 16. Barria that he had just met
with Maisto at the Embassy, and bad been hat “they are looking
. for a constitutional way out.”
Barria added that, of course, he agreed with Maisto’s “suggestion.”

A June 20 editorial in the Panamanian daily La Critica indicated that™”

the Panamanian government, too, had studied the Philippine experience
closely. “The first phase of the Philippines Plan programmed for Panama
has ended in a resounding failure,” because Panamanians “did not fall
for the plan. . . to blame our country’s military forces for all of our
country’s inherited evils,” La Critica wrote.

They warned, however, that the next phase of the * ‘oligarchs’ Phil-
ippines plan” is to force “the president and the electoral tribunal to move
up the elections that by law should be held in 1989. . . . Marcos fell
into that trap,” La Critica noted. He won the election, but then found
that “no ohe believed him. The revolts started again. . . In Panama, the
first part of the Plan already failed; the second part has been discovered.
Let us not let down our guard.”

The U.S. Congress now joined the anti-Panama campaign. On June 23,
the Foreign Affairs Committee of the House of Representatives sent to
the floor a resolution calling upon Panama to establish a democratic
government.

On June 26, the Senate passed a similiar resolution, putting on the
record that Panama’s sovereignty, for them, is limited. This time, the
liberal Democratic senators from Connecticut and Massachusetts, Chris-
topher Dodd and Edward Kennedy, led the charge.

The Senate resolution, passed by 84 to 2, called upon the Panamanian
government to undertake “an impartial and independent investigation”
of allegations against General Noriega.” The resolution demanded, fur-
ther, that during such time as the investigation is being carried out,
General Noriega and other “implicated” officials must resign, and went
so far as to specify which provisions of Panama’s legal code the senators
consider justified their conviction of guilt without the benefit of trial.

In addition, instructions that the Panamanian government must restore
suspended constitutional rights, establish a “genuine and authentic” civil
authority, retire the Defense Forces from any non-military activities,
ensure a “professional army under civilian control,” take steps to provide
credibility and confidence in elections, and assure an “independent”
judicial system, were included.

“The resolution is a threat to sovereignty and national independence,”
Panama’s foreign ministry stated in its note of protest to Secretary of
State Shultz. Copies of the note were sent to the governments of every
country in the world.

President Delvalle ordered Panama’s ambassador to the United States
recalled for consultations. “It is inconceivable that the Senate of the
U.S. deliberately attempts to dictate norms to a foreign government. It
is an attitude which is openly in conflict with the principle of indepen-
dence and freedom which the founding fathers of the U.S. consecrated
in the Constitution of the U.S.A.,” he stated in an address to his nation.

The response of the U.S. State Department was to escalate the cam-
paign. Word leaked out that Maisto had thrown an “intimate” party,
and invited leading members of the opposition.

On June 30, Abrams reiterated that the Senate’s resolution reflects
administration policy. Speaking before the World Affairs Council, Abrams
praised the “extensive and previously underestimated political opposition”
in Panama. “The old complacency inside and outside of Panama over
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liquidity crisis, as the government cannot print more money. Thus, the

Post’s sources assert, “the economy is going to keep deteriorating, social

problems are going to grow, and there’s going to be more capital flighg.””
For its part, the Washington Times reported that the international

banking community “has been panicked. . . . The exit of deposits has
been very fast over the last few days. . . . There is a liquidity crunch on
the system.”

True, the Baltimore Sun did vary the NSC script for Panama coverage
that day. Its article asserted that General Noriega “is a public relations
disaster. He has a face like a pineapple: He looks like an Indian, and
he's not acceptable to the old families that ran the country.” And that
was cited from a “favorable” source!

“It all has to happen together—economic turmoil, daily demonstra—
tions, further withdrawal of U.S. economic and military aid, and the
military’s internal collapse,” the Christian Science Monitor explained on
Aug. 3. U.S. planners now realize that for General Noriega to go, “a
considerably greater deterioration of social and economic conditions would
have to evolve. . . . The economy would really have to go to hell in a
handbasket,” the Washington Post emphasized.

Between June and the beginning of August, an estimated 10-15% of
the $39 billion in deposits in the banking center left Panama, the Christian
Science Monitor reported on Aug. 3. Capital flight was not “spontaneous,”
the New York Times reported a few days later. “Most bankers, saying they
are under orders to lower their financial exposure in Panama have stopped
making new loans and even calling in some old ones,” explained the
Times on Aug. 10.

As the Financial Times of London explained that same day, “the one
element likely to force a change is the economic situation. Panama has
no Central Bank, uses the dollar as cutrency, and therefore cannot print
money. Its fiscal deficit . . . is likely to be $300 million. . . . This can
only be covered through borrowmg—hkely to prove dlfﬁcult in the cir-
cumstances.’

Once again, the U.S. Senate stepped in. In early August, eight sen-
ators—led by Senator “Limited Sovereignty” Dodd—sent a letter to
Shultz requesting that the State Department continue its freeze on eco-
nomic and military aid indefinitely, but urged that it also develop other
measures in order “to evidence our firm opposition to the control of the
government of Panama by its military forces.”

New “measures” were also taken. News of a Miami grand jury investigation
into allegations that Noriega is linked to narcotics traffickers was leaked
to the press. Noriega is the “focus of a major federal ‘drug-conspiracy
investigation and is suspected of providing protection to cocaine traf-
ficking and money laundering,” reported a Los Angeles Times story, pub-
lished in several newspapers around the United States in early August.

The story admitted that the grand jury was initiated because the State
Department, NSC, and Justice Department wanted Noriega out. The
paper’s sources also admitted the investigators were having trouble cor-
roborating their sources’ stories. “Don’t hold your breath,” one source
responded when asked if the grand jury was expected to issue an indict-
ment soon.

The main witness against General Noriega is Ramén Milian Rodriguez,
a drug-runner arrested in Florida in May, 1983—on a tip from the
Panamanian Defense Forces. At the time, U.S. Justice Department Spe-
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» “Just let Noriega
go. * .’

cial Agent James L. Bramble had sent then-Colonel Noriega a letter
expressing the U.S. gratitude for his cooperation, “without which the
investigation and arrest of Milién Rodriguez would have been impossible.”

To most observers, it would appear that Milidn, now serving 35 years
for cocaine trafficking, had found his chance for revenge against those
that had sent him to jail. Nonetheless, for the U.S. Justice Department,
convicted trafficker Mili4n Rodriguez is the best “source” they have yet
been able to find to corroborate the allegations that General Noriega has
been involved in drugs.

Soon, the news was out that the man running the Justice Department’s
“oet Noriega” team was none other than Associate Attorney General
Stephen Trott, the same official who had been working overtime to block
investigations into the Nicaraguan Contra drug-running, while running
the “get LaRouche” team with fellow Associate Attorney William Weld.

On July 16, Trott had called a special meeting at the Justice Department
of representatives from the FBI and DEA to set himself up as the “referee”
of investigations into General Noriega, the Los Angeles Times reported
on Aug. 13. Trott ordered everyone at the meeting to “pull together all
we have on him to see if it was prosecutable.”

After that, the DEA in Miami began collecting “every snippet that
we have on the guy,” as one of their sources put it, despite the fact that
the DEA preferred to continue its working relationship with Noriega and
the PDF, the Los Angeles paper noted.

Soon, the U.S. Customs Service was ordered to collect snippets, too.
Their assignment, the Los Angeles Times reported on Aug. 23, was to
come up with proof that Noriega was involved, in any way, with illegal
shipments of U.S. high-technology to Cuba. Clearly, one year and a half
after Admiral Poindexter’s allegations had been published in the New
York Times, the secret government was still having trouble coming up
with the promised goods. “A Senate source with knowledge of the Cus-
toms Service inquiry said that it showed greater promise of establishing
criminal violations by General Noriega than the drug and money-laun-
dering cases,” said the Times.

Should the “investigations,” economic warfare, and “orders” from the
U.S. government fail to force General Noriega to resign, the option of
assassination has been floated. Again, the U.S. press was the vehicle for
the threat.

On Aug. 8, the Baltimore Sun published an editorial opinion column
on Panama, written by one Gwynne Dyer. Dyer arged that Noriega was
in power because of U.S. support, and that support was repeating the
errors the United States had made in South Vietnam. “Even there,
however, the U.S. eventually found it necessary to organize the assas-
sination of its original ally, Ngo Dinh Diem, whose corruption, ineffi-
ciency, and massive unpopularity were hampering the war effort. . . .”
As for Noriega, shie concluded: “Washington has tacitly given its assent
to his removal. It will probably not be long.”

The primary problem facing the Project Democracy crowd, was their
failure to get the Panamanian government to yield on any question of
sovereignty. The U.S. intelligence community put out “the word” that
if General Noriega handed over his post to someone—even someone he
designated as his successor—U.S. pressure would ease up. Problems over
the transfer of the Panama Canal under the Torrijos-Carter Treaty could
also be worked out, officials told their contacts—provided General No-
riega was sacrificed. ,

It was a replay of the proposal that Panama call early elections, toyget
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the U.S. State Department off its back. If the government could be
induced to cough up its commanding general, the principle of sovereignty
itself would be ceded. Mopping up opposition from politicians and less
experienced military men to international rule over Panama would then

too. On Aug. 11, the four leading of

team assigned to the United States an
extraordinary, nationally televised “Report to the Nation,” which warmed
that the actual target of the “get Noriega” campaign was Panama’s military
itselfy and thereby, its sovereignty. A

Panamanians must understand that what is at stake is not the career
of one man, but an effort to return Panama to the status of a colony, by
turning civilians against the military, Special Ambassador Aquilino Boyd
explained. There are “some misguided people” in the United States “who .
seek to disavow what various generations of struggle for sovereignty and
the independence of the country, managed to achieve in the Torrijos-
Carter treaties, thanks to the union which had been produced between
the people and the National Guard.”

“One message [ believe we have made very clear [in the United States],
is not to try to destroy the Defense Forces of Panama, because the medicine
could result in worse than the disease for them,” he concluded.

In his report, José Blandén, Panama’s consul general in New York,
named the “invisible government led by the group of McFarlane, Poin-
dexter, and North” as the agency which had launched the anti-Noriega
war, as “a campaign essentially aimed at the liquidation of the government
of the Republic of Panama.”

On Aug. 12, thousands of citizens attending celebrations of the third
anniversary of the creation of Battalion 2000, the Defense Forces’ elite
corps which is preparing to take charge of the defense of the Panama
Canal on Dec. 31, 1999, heard the same message, this time from Panama’s
military men, who warned they will not allow the military to be reduced
again to the status of unarmed policemen. And they added, the military
stands by its commander, General Noriega.

Failing to split the civilian and military apparatus in Panama, U.S.
intervention escalated, seeking to crack Panamanian will by force.

® Retired U.S. Colonel Chico Stone was identified as directing an
opposition demonstration on Aug. 30, a demonstration which turned
violent, and ended in one death.

® U.S. Commercial Attaché David Miller was arrested on Sept. 13,
as he participated in a demonstration of the Civilian Crusade in the San
Miguelito district of Panama City. Embassy officials first asserted that -
Miller had been only “passing through” the area on his way elsewhere,
but later changed their story, admitting that Miller attetided the rally,
but claiming he had been assigned to “observe.” Panama’s foreign ministry
replied that photographs taken at the opposition rally prove that Miller
was actively participating in a demonstration demanding the overthrow
of the legally constituted government—a clear violation of the Vienna
Convention regulations on the conduct of diplomatic personnel.

Sept. 22, a U.S. Blackhawk helicopter (Registration number M-
23985) flew from Howard Air Force Base, over Panamanian territory,
refusing to respond to the control tower’s questions on either its iden-
tification or the purpose of its trip. When approached by ground patrols
upon landing near Panama’s Rio Hato military base, the helicopter fled.

The same day, approximately 120 U.S. soldiers in uniform, normally
assigned to the Canal Zone, were posted to the U.S. embassy in Panama
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the quota, with a guaranteed price two-thirds above the current, miserably
low, world pric€ for sugar. Not only will the boycott affect national
income, but the earnings of Panama’s largest private sugar producers:
President Eric Delvalle and Justice Minister Rodolfo Chiari, the Wash-
ington Times noted on Sept. 25.

The provocations continued. The United States housed a group of’
U.S. military personnel in a downtown district experiencing frequent”
opposition demonstrations. Predictably, as police broke up one violent
demonstration, nine U.S. servicemen were among those arrested. The
U.S. embassy and the Southern Command know better than to station
U.S. military personnel in the middle of disturbance-prone districts. A
deliberate provocation?

On Oct. 6, the U.S. Senate came very close to passing an amendment
which, in effect, would have ripped up the 1977 Panama Canal Treaties
entirely.

The amendment, introduced by Sen. Steve Symms (R-Idaho) to a
State Department authorization bill, demanded that Panama accept the
so-called DeConcini Reservation, passed by the Senate, but not part of
the official treaties and never ratified by Panama. The DeConcini Res-
ervation asserted that the U.S. has a right, in perpetuity, to intervene
militarily in Panama, or abrogate the treaties, as it deems necessary.

Symms’ amendment read:

In view of 1) the deteriorating condition of the Panama Canal; 2)

the continuing military dictatorship of General Noriega and his

involvement in criminal activities, and 3) the refusal of the Pan-
amanian government to accept the DeConcini Reservation con-
cerning U.S. defense rights upon which Senate consent to the
ratification of the Panama Canal Treaty was predicated, it is the
sense of the Senate that the Senate ought not to have consented

to the ratification of the Panama Canal Treaties, whereby the Pan-

ama Canal was given away, and that such treaties are voidable unless

and until Panama formally accepts the DeConcini Reservation and
should be voided by the President if such acceptance is not forth-
coming within six months of the adoption of this section.

The amendment was voted down by a narrow majority of 59 to 39.

The war against Panama has not stopped. ;
Fr()m November to Since the Panamanian government did not fold up shop and go home
\/{ h within 45 days as requested, the U.S. Senate has moved to legislate
viarcC economic sanctions against Panama. On Nov. 19, the Senate Foreign
Relations Committee voted 19 to O to support bill S. 1614, which requires
the U.S. government to cut off all economic assistance to Panama, and
eliminate Panama’s sugar quota with the Unites States, unless a “non-
. military transitional government”—approved by Washington—is in-
stalled.

Senator Helms added an additional amendment, specifying that the
CIA cannot—by law—collaborate with any government or military of-
ficials, but is free to work with private Panamanian “citizens,” i.e. the
“democratic opposition.”

The Foreign Relations Committee vote clears the bill for consideration
by the full Senate.

The same day, the New York Times introduced a new element in the
campaign, publishing faked “revelations” supposedly based on the recently
released Congressional Report on the Iran-Contra scandal, which func-
tion to set up a cover for an assassination operation against General
Noriega which would not be blamed on the opposition, or its backers.

“Panama’s military leader offered to undertake sabotage and possibly

P45




EIR Special Report

P46

assassinations in Nicaragua for the Reagan administration,” claimed the
New York Times on Nov. 19. They cited unidentified “congressional
sources,” who, the Times says, name Noriega as the “third party” men-
tioned in the final Iran-Contra congressional report. The report itself is
based on testimony by Project Democracy asset Lt. Col. Oliver North
during his closed-door testimony last summer.

A Panamanian military officer close to Noriega told the Miami Herald
Nov. 19 that Noriega had “never made such an offer” to North “or
anyone else in the U.S. government.” In fact, he said, when National
Security Adviser Adm. John Poindexter was in Panama in December
1985, Noriega rebuffed his attempts to “force” support for the Contras.

But like Seymour Hersh’s 1986 psychological warfare piece, the story

up by every major U.S. media, and played as the lead item
s that night. Thus, by blasting all over the United States that

mafia. In fact, were the mafia to kill Noriega, they would be doing it on
behalf of—perhaps, even paid by—the opposition with whom they are
politically and financially allied.























































































































































































































































































